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We heard the employer’s appeal of the Reemployment Benefit Administrator’s (“RBA”) determination that Mr. Byron Syvinski (“employee”) is eligible for reemployment benefits in Anchorage, Alaska on January 22, 2008.  Attorney Tim MacMillan represented the employee.  Attorney Constance Livsey represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).    We left the record open for one day to allow Ms. Livsey to respond to Mr. MacMillan’s Affidavit of Attorney’s fees, and closed the record on the next hearing date after the deadline or receipt, which was February 24, 2008.

ISSUES
1. Did the Board Designee abuse her discretion under AS 23.30.041 in making a determination that employee is eligible for reemployment benefits?

2. Under AS 23.30.145 is the employee entitled to attorney fees and legal costs?


BRIEF SUMMARY OF RELEVANT EVIDENCE
I.  MEDICAL HISTORY

Byron Syvinski, the employee, worked for Johnson’s Tire Service, Inc. (“Johnson’s Tire”), the employer, as an automobile mechanic.
  He had been working for the employer for three years
 when, on April 3, 2004, he injured his back at work while working under a vehicle and twisting and lifting all at the same time.
  According to the Physician’s Report submitted to the Board, the employee was “doing an alignment, crouched down under a car and pulled lift jack, felt a pop, then back started hurting.”
  He tried to continue working, but was in too much pain.
  That evening he went to Providence Alaska Medical Center (“PAMC”) Emergency Room (“ER”) complaining of back pain, with a pulling sensation more on the right side than the left and aching in his right thigh.
  The ER doctor, Eva Carey, M.D., diagnosed musculoskeletal low back strain, gave him a work excuse for 5 to 7 days, and prescribed the medications ibuprofen, Anexsia and Flexeril.

On April 6, 2004, the employee was seen by Ashley Merquardt, PA, at Healthworks for complaints of continuing lower back pain radiating down his right posterior leg.
  Ms. Merquardt diagnosed the employee with lower back pain/muscle strain versus disk pathology.
  For medications, she continued ibuprofen and Flexeril and added Vicodin.
 She found the employee could return to work as of April 7, 2004, on modified duty.
  

On April 8, 2004, the employee was seen again at PAMC ER, this time by John Hall, M.D.
  

The employee complained of continuing lower back pain, and Dr. Hall diagnosed acute lumbosacral sprain.

On April 12, 2004, the employee returned to Health Works to see Ms. Merquardt for follow-up, as he had been advised to do.
  Since there was no improvement in his back pain, Ms. Merquardt made a referral to Ed Voke, M.D., of Orthopedic Physicians Anchorage.

On April 21, 2004, the employee was seen by Mr. Jim Bliven, PA, at Orthopedic Physicians Anchorage (“OPA”).
  Mr. Bliven diagnosed the employee with low back pain/strain, and prescribed continued light duty at work, pain medication, physical therapy, and a home exercise program.
  An x-ray of the lumbar spine showed well maintained disc spaces, excellent alignment, and a small pseudoarthrosis where the L5 transverse process “appeared to” articulate with the sacrum.
  The employee saw physical therapist Hal Egbert of United Physical Therapy (“UPT”) on April 26, 2004.  Mr. Egbert prescribed physical therapy three times per week for four weeks.
  On May 3, 2004, at a follow-up appointment with Mr. Bliven, the employee complained that physical therapy was making his back pain worse and that his pain was now not only in his lower back, but also extending down into his right lower leg.
  Mr. Bliven then ordered magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”) of the lumbar spine.
  The MRI on May 5, 2004 showed degenerative changes at L4-L5, including an annular tear, mild diffuse annular bulging, and mild central spinal stenosis.
  After reviewing the results of the MRI with the employee, Mr. Bliven stated that he felt the employee had made no progress under his care and therefore referred the employee to Robert Valentz, M.D.

On May 10, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Valentz, who diagnosed lumbago, possibly discogenic, and added Zanaflex, a muscle relaxant, to his medications.
  On May 27, 2004, Dr. Valentz performed a midline L4-5 interlaminar epidural steroid injection under fluoroscopy.
  The employee was seen by Dr. Valentz for follow-up on June 1, 2004.  The employee reported that his back pain was starting to decrease and that he did not have any leg pain.
  Dr. Valentz continued the employee on the muscle relaxant Bextra and the pain medication Vicodin.
  Dr. Valentz also released the employee to light duty work as of June 3, 2004, and prescribed physical therapy.
 On June 10, 2004, the employee saw the physical therapist Jim Werner at OrthSport/BEAR (“BEAR Clinic”) to restart physical therapy.
  

On July 7, 2004, the employee visited Dr. Valentz for follow-up.
  The employee reported a 70% reduction in his pain symptoms after the epidural injection and occasional tingling in his right buttock.
  Dr. Valentz assessed that the employee’s symptoms from his annular tear at L4-5 and degenerative disc disease of lumbar radiculopathy was much improved and that if the symptoms worsened, consideration would be given to repeating the epidural steroid injection.
  On July 27, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Valentz, again complaining of increased pain in his back and leg and also headaches.
  Dr. Valentz placed the employee on a weight restriction of 15 pounds.
  Dr.  Valentz decided to repeat the epidural steroid injection, which was done on July 29, 2004.
  On August 3, 2004, Dr. Valentz opined that the employee had not returned to his pre-injury medical status, that he was not magnifying his symptoms or malingering, and that he might reach medical stability in three to four months.
  In addition, Dr. Valentz performed a discography under fluoroscopy on August 5, 2004, which showed disc abnormalities at L4-L5 with posterior extravasation of the dye with an annular tear.
  Dr. Valentz stated that the employee was totally disabled for work as of August 5, 2004.

On August 17, 2004, the employee underwent a lumbar spine MRI, which showed a large central disk herniation at the L4-L5 level.
  The employee saw Dr. Valentz on September 1, 2004, for follow-up after the discogram.  The employee reported that his back pain was worse, and that he was now using a cane for difficulty walking due to the pain.  Based on the discogram, Dr. Valentz indicated a discTrode procedure might benefit the employee.  Dr. Valentz requested approval for that procedure.
  

At the employer’s request, on September 4, 2004, the employee was seen by Donald Schroeder, M.D., for an employer medical examination (“EME”).  Dr. Schroeder opined that the employee’s disc degeneration at L4-L5 was preexisting, that the employee was suffering from lumbosacral strain related to the industrial injury of April 3, 2004, and that the employee was not a candidate for the discTrode procedure.

On October 1, 2004, Dr. Valentz stated that the employee would be able to return to work full-time on October 5, 2004.
  Dr. Valentz indicated that the employee was restricted to lifting 15 pounds occasionally, 10 pounds frequently, and should avoid prolonged standing, walking, bending or squatting, and overhead work.

On November 5, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Valentz for reevaluation and medication refill.
  The employee stated that the pain in his lower back was constant at 8/10 on the visual analog scale (“VAS”), made worse with standing for long periods and relieved with lying down.
  The employee also stated that he was not participating in physical therapy any more, as the last session had made his pain worse.
  The patient complained of having episodes of loss of bowel function, although he stated these episodes were infrequent.
  Dr. Valentz opined that the low back pain was clearly related to the work injury of April 3, 2004, and repeated his request for authorization for the IDET procedure for the employee, as the employee had failed conservative therapy.
  

On November 5, 2004, Dr. Valentz responded to the employer’s request for review of Dr. Schroeder’s September 4, 2004 EME report.
  Dr. Valentz disagreed with the EME report as follows:  

1.  there was no evidence that the employee’s degenerative L5 disc was preexisting, as claimed by Dr. Schroeder;  

2.   there was no evidence for Dr. Schroeder’s claim that the employee was not a good candidate for the IDET procedure or discTrode due to his young age, and that in fact most patients who benefit from the IDET procedure are younger patients with single level pathology such as the employee has; and

3.  although Dr. Schroeder predicted that the employee’s lumbosacral strain would be stable by November 1, 2004 with no ratable permanent partial impairment (PPI), Dr. Valentz examined the employee on November 5, 2004 and found that he was not medically stable.
  

On December 9, 2004, the employee saw Dr. Valentz for follow-up.
  The employee continued to complain of low back pain, and also complained of right leg pain on the lateral aspect of his right thigh in the L5 distribution.
  Dr. Valentz opined that if the IDET procedure was not approved, a surgical consultation should be obtained.
  

The employee was seen by Dr. Valentz  in 2005 for continued follow-up of his low back pain and right leg pain.
  He received treatment and evaluation from Dr. Valentz, including pain medication and a facet nerve block.  He continued with physical therapy at the Alaska Spine Institute.  He was also referred to a chiropractor.

At the employer’s request, on July 23, 2005, the employee underwent a second EME, this time by a two physician panel, William Mayhall, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, and Scot Fechtel, M.D., an orthopedic chiropractor and medical neurologist.  Dr. Mayhall and Dr. Fechtel determined that the employee suffered from lumbosacral strain, an L4-L5 annular tear, a large central disc herniation at L4-L5 and radicular symptomatology.
 They opined that the lumbosacral strain suffered by the employee was related to the work injury of April 3, 2004, and that it was highly likely that the L4-L5 annular tear, or worsening of a degenerative disc with an annular tear took place at the same time.
  They stated that the major contributing factor or the substantial factor of the employee’s condition at that time was due to the work injury of April 3, 2004.
 Dr. Mayhall and Dr. Fechtel stated that the treatment the employee had received was reasonable, necessary, and related to the April 3, 2004 work injury.
  They further stated that the employee should be restricted to light duty work and that he had not reached medical stability.
  Dr. Mayhall and Dr. Fechtel suggested that the MRI scan be repeated and the employee be referred to a surgeon for treatment of his disc herniation.

In 2006, the employee continued to see Dr. Valentz for follow-up of his low back pain.
  Dr. Valentz found the employee was medically stable as of January 3, 2006.
  He also indicated the employee would need to undergo vocational training to return to the workforce on a full-time basis.
  Dr. Valentz referred the employee for a physical capacity evaluation and permanent impairment rating.
  

On February 10, 2006, Dr. Valentz performed an epidural steroid injection on the right L4-L5.  On February 16, 2006, on a telephone follow-up for the procedure done on February 10, 2005, it was noted that the employee complained of severe pain on the first day and new pain in the ankle region.
  In addition, the employee complained that his legs gave out on him when he tried to get out of bed the Monday after the procedure.
  The employee complained of receiving very little relief from his pain.

On March 22, 2006, a Physical Capacities Evaluation (“PCE”) was completed by Alan Blizzard, P.T.
  Mr. Blizzard found that the employee could function at least at a modified sedentary level.
 Shawn Johnston, M.D. performed the PPI on March 30, 2007, and found that the employee had a 10% PPI.

The employee continued to be followed at the Alaska Spine Institute for his ongoing back pain.  In July 2007, the employee complained of increasing back pain with radicular symptoms in both lower extremities.
  On July 31, 2007, he saw Dr.  Gevaert for the purpose of obtaining electrodiagnostic studies.
  The results showed a borderline normal electromyographic study that could not rule out early axonal polyneuropathy, but also showed no evidence of lumbar radiculopathy.

In August of 2007, the employee was seen at PAMC ER requesting pain medication for his back

pain.
  Because the employee reported depressive symptoms with suicidal ideation to the ER

doctor, John Hall, M.D., he was referred for a psychological consultation with licensed professional counselor (“LCP”), Jennifer Scarborough.
 Ms. Scarborough’s diagnostic impressions were that the employee had an adjustment disorder with depressed mood, chronic low back pain and that his psychosocial and environmental problems were moderate to severe.

The employee saw Dr. Valentz on August 13, 2007, for ongoing complaints of back pain.
  Dr. Valentz ordered an MRI, which was done on August 15, 2007,
  and showed a displaced disc at L4-L5, with an annular tear but no neuroforaminal impingement.
  Dr. Valentz noted the employee would benefit from a repeat epidural steroid injection.
  However, Dr. Valentz withdrew care from the employee on September 4, 2007, due to the employee’s violation of his pain contract.

II.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 6, 2004, the employee filed a report of occupational injury.
  The employer accepted the claim and paid benefits until September 20, 2005, when it filed a controversion of temporary 

total disability (“TTD”) benefits for the period from May 1, 2005 to September 6, 2005, arguing that the employee had been employed at Curry’s Truck and Auto (“Curry’s”) during that period.

On January 10, 2005, the employee filed a request for an eligibility evaluation for re-employment benefits.
  The employee explained he had not submitted the request within the 90 day period because he did not know that his injury would prevent him from returning to his former work.
  On September 12, 2005, Faith White, the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (“RBA”) Designee, determined that the employee had unusual and extenuating circumstances for his late request, including Dr. Valentz’ August 29, 2005 report restricting the employee to light duty as of September 6, 2005.
  On September 22, 2005, the employer filed an answer to employee’s workers compensation claim (“WCC”) stating that the employee was not entitled to reemployment benefits as he had been employed in the auto industry doing diagnostic work since April of 2005.
  On September 26, 2005, Fannie Stoll, a workers’ compensation technician, referred the employee to rehabilitation specialist Forooz Sakata, of Advanced Rehabilitation and Occupational Solutions (“AROS”), for a vocational evaluation.

On April 20, 2006, the employer controverted all benefits, claiming that the employee was medically stable as of March 30, 2006 according to the evaluation of Dr. Johnston.
  This controversion was withdrawn at the September 25, 2007 Prehearing Conference (“PHC”).

On July 20, 2007, the employee filed a claim for TTD, total partial disability (“TPD”) benefits, medical benefits, transportation, penalties and interest, attorney’s fees and costs, and reemployment benefits.
  This claim was controverted by the employer on August 10, 2007.
  The reasons given for the controversion were that:  1) the employee had returned to work in July 2005; 2) the employee was medically stable as of March 30, 2006, and required no further treatment due to his work injury; and 3) there was no nexus between the benefits paid to the employee and work performed by the employee’s attorney.
  In addition, the employer filed an answer to the employee’s WCC.
  

Ms. Sakata interviewed the employee on July 19, 2007.  Pursuant to this interview, she developed a list of three occupational descriptions, namely motorcycle repairer (Dictionary of Occupational Titles (“DOT”) Code:  620.281-054), automobile mechanic (DOT Code: 49-3023.01), and automobile-mechanic helper (DOT Code: 49.9098.00).  These were included in her inquiry of Dr. Valentz concerning the status of the employee and whether the employee would be able to perform jobs with those three DOT job descriptions in the future.  Dr. Valentz stated that the employee would not be able to perform any of the three jobs.
  On August 23, 2007, rehabilitation specialist Ms. Sakata recommended that the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits.
  

On September 12, 2007, RBA Designee Faith White determined that the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits based on the Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation (“RBEE”).
  On September 27, 2007, the employee stated that he did wish to receive reemployment benefits and chose Mr. Jeffrey Allen as the rehabilitation specialist to develop his reemployment plan.
  

On September 20, 2007, the employer petitioned for review of the RBA Designee’s determination that the employee was eligible for reemployment benefits because the evaluation by Ms. Sakata lacked significant information relevant to the eligibility determination process.
  On September 25, 2007, a PreHearing Conference (“PHC”) was held to discuss the employer’s controversion of benefits and appeal of the RBA Designee’s decision.
  A hearing was set for January 22, 2008 on the employer’s appeal of the RBA Designee’s decision and the employee’s opposition.

III.  JANUARY 22, 2008 HEARING

A.  Testimony of Rehabilitation Specialist Ms. Sakata

At the hearing, Ms. Sakata testified that she had been a rehabilitation specialist on the Board’s list for five years.  With regard to the employee’s job at Curry’s, Ms. Sakata testified the job was not full time; and when the employee had back pain, he was allowed to go home and come back when he was able to work.  She found that although the employee did work as a coolant diagnostic technician at Curry’s, he did not meet the specific vocational preparation (“SVP”) for that job.  Based on her evaluation, she determined that, at best, the employee was a helper at Curry’s and that it was not a “real job.”  

On direct examination at the hearing by the employer, Ms. Sakata testified that the employee had not told her of the jobs he held at Carr’s grocery or Wendy’s restaurant.  She also testified that the employee had not told her of some of the job duties he had performed at Golden Wings Auto, such as automotive detailer, oil changer, and diagnostic technician.  As for the employee’s work at Anchorage Yamaha Motorcycle, Ms. Sakata testified that the employee told her he was limited by back pain in his work there and that he planned to quit that job due to his back pain.  Regarding the employee’s work at Johnson’s Tire, Ms. Sakata testified that the employee told her he was a master mechanic and he had not shared with her of some of his job duties such as tire technician or service estimator.  Regarding the employee’s work at Curry’s, Ms. Sakata testified the employee did not tell her of some of the job duties he had performed there, such as management duties and office duties.  

Ms. Sakata testified she had not interviewed any employers concerning the employee, other than to call Johnson’s Tire to confirm that they had no work for the employee.  Also, Ms. Sakata testified she had trouble obtaining a full set of medical records for the employee.

On cross examination, Ms. Sakata testified she reviewed the September 17, 2007 deposition of the employee and there was nothing in the deposition that was inconsistent with the notes from the ten year employment history she had taken from the employee.  Ms. Sakata testified that in his deposition, the employee testified he was under the age of 18 when he worked at Carr’s grocery and Wendy’s restaurant; and she, therefore, did not include those jobs as she does not include jobs that employees had done as minors.  

Ms. Sakata testified that she performed her evaluation of the employee according to the regulations that govern RBEE’s. Specifically, she testified she interviewed the employee as required under 8 AAC 45.525(b), which does not require that she interview employers.  Further, she testified that she chose the job titles from the Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined (“SCOD”) in the DOT, based on the employee’s descriptions of the jobs held and training received.  She testified she then determined whether the employee held the jobs long enough to meet the SVP codes as described, and submitted those job titles to a physician, as required under 8 AC 45.525(b)(1)-(3).  She testified that based on her evaluation, the employee had not performed the job duties of “coolant diagnostic technician” long enough to meet the SVP of 7, which requires 2 to 7 years, and therefore she did not include that job title to be submitted to a physician.  Further, Ms. Sakata testified that one of the jobs she submitted to the physician, automobile mechanic, requires medium strength, and this job was not approved by the physician.  Ms. Sakata testified that the “coolant diagnostic technician” job also requires medium strength, so that even if that job had been submitted to the physician, it would not have been approved.

Ms. Sakata further testified that the job title “automobile mechanic” best fit the work the employee did at Johnson’s Tire, and that the other tasks he did were included under either the “automobile mechanic” or “automobile-mechanic helper” job titles.  

Finally, Ms. Sakata stated that if this case were remanded back to her with the job at Curry’s included, the result would not change, unless she had specific instructions from the Board as to exactly what she was supposed to do.  She said she could not tear down the automobile mechanic job title and add other things to it.  She also testified the employee was forthcoming during his interview.

B.  Testimony of the Employee

The employee testified he injured his back while working at Johnson’s Tire, where he had worked for nearly three years.  He testified he received treatment for his back injury including several epidural injections, physical therapy, and pain management therapy;  and that future treatment might include a possible “IDET” procedure, sealing the tear, or “cutting the nerves off.” He testified that at times, especially while he was under treatment, his back pain improved, but that at the present his back pain had not improved.   The employee testified that he currently was not able to perform his duties as a husband and father, as far as being able to provide for the household. He also testified simple things such as taking a bath are complicated for him. The employee further testified that he could not lift over 15 pounds without his back hurting and his leg hurting.  

The employee stated he continued to work at Johnson’s Tire after his injury, but that eventually Johnson’s Tire told him they could not accommodate him with light duty work.  He testified since the workers’ compensation time loss payments were so unreliable, he went to Curry’s to find work.  He stated he explained his limitations due to his back pain to Curry’s and asked for accommodation. He said he went to Curry’s because the owner’s son-in-law was a personal friend of his.  The employee testified his work at Curry’s was as a diagnostic technician and that the heavy work involved in that job was done for him by others.  He said his work there was part-time, from one to four hours a day, and that he worked there for about a year to a year and a half, taking into account the time off for his back problems.  He left Curry’s due to his back pain and because he was “stiffed” on his pay when working as a manager there.

The employee testified he requested reemployment benefits and underwent an evaluation by Ms. Sakata.  He testified with reasonable certainty that he was 16 or 17 years old when he worked at Carr’s and Wendy’s.   The employee also testified that he wanted the reemployment benefits.

On cross examination, the employer questioned the employee concerning whether he had worked at Wendy’s restaurant in 2001.  The employee said it was very hard to remember, but he may have gone back to Wendy’s to work in 2001;  but that if he did, it was only for a week or so.  He could not remember exactly when or the duration of employment. The employer asked the employee, ”If Wendy’s management in Anchorage states that you worked for them from February 1, 2001 through March 19, 2001, do you have any basis to say that that is not true?”  The employee responded, “No, I don’t understand why, though.”  The employee was unable to confirm that he had worked for Wendy’s in 2001 for longer than a week or so.
  

On cross examination, the employee testified he worked at Curry’s two different times, and that his second period of employment there ended in April of 2007.  He said that he started a job at Anchorage Yamaha Motorcycle the day after he quit his second job at Curry’s in April, 2007.

The employee testified that the job tasks he performed at Johnson’s Tire, such as with the tires and changing oil, were not stand-alone jobs, but were part of the overall automobile mechanic job.  The employee also testified that the light duty jobs he performed at Curry’s were primarily in consideration of his back injury.

C.  Employer’s Arguments

At the hearing on January 22, 2008, the employer requested that the Board review the RBA Designee’s decision that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits because the RBEE prepared by rehabilitation specialist Ms. Sakata was based on inaccurate and incomplete information.  The employer argued other information in the record, specifically the employee’s deposition and his admissions to his health care providers, clearly establishes that the RBEE was based on incomplete and erroneous information.  The employer contended that the employee has held types of employment, jobs with different employers, and specific jobs with employers, that are much broader than those few contained in the RBEE.  The employer requested that the Board remand the matter to the RBA with instructions to direct the rehabilitation specialist to include a complete survey of jobs, a complete survey of employers, and a complete itemization of the many SCODDOT job descriptions that are included within those positions that the employee has held that are not included in the present RBEE.

Specifically, the employer argued as follows:

1. The employee’s jobs at Wendy’s restaurant, where the employee did cooking jobs and took orders from customers, and Carr’s grocery where the employee was a customer service clerk and bagger, both of which were full time jobs performed after he reached majority, should have been included in the RBEE.  Certainly at least the Wendy’s job is after he obtained the age of 18.  Therefore, the RBEE is materially deficient in failing to describe two different employers with different kinds of work.

2. The employee performed several different jobs while employed at Johnson’s Tire. In addition to auto mechanic, he performed duties as a tire technician, and brake testing and repair work, various kinds of diagnostic technician work, and service estimation work.  Therefore, these different job descriptions should have been submitted to the physician as separate jobs.

3. There is no mention in the RBEE of the employee’s job at Curry’s, where the employee worked as a diagnostic technician and a manager.  The manager position recalled no lifting or bending.    

4. Also according to the job history in the RBEE, the employee was performing a heavy duty job as a motorcycle repairer at Anchorage Yamaha Motorcycle from February of 2007 until the present, or the time of the RBEE in August of 2007.  This fact should call into question the reliability and accuracy of the description of his employment at Anchorage Yamaha Motorcycle.

On closing, the employer argued that the RBA Designee did abuse her discretion in finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits because of serious factual errors and omissions.    The employer argued that this case should be remanded with directions to consider the deposition and the medical records and submit the additional job descriptions, some of which are light duty work, for the physician to review.

D. Employee’s Arguments

The employee argued that the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits.  The employee argued it was proper for rehabilitation specialist Ms. Zakata to exclude the three jobs, which she did exclude, from her RBEE, as follows:

1. Two of the jobs, the job at Carr’s grocery as a bagger and the job at Wendy’s restaurant, were done when the employee was a minor.  

2. The third job, employee’s job at Curry’s, was properly excluded because it was not a “real job.”  It was a job that the employee obtained after being laid off at Johnson’s Tire because Johnson’s Tire was unable to accommodate him with light-duty work. It was not work that would prepare him to compete in the labor market, as required by the statute at AS 23.30.41(d)(2), which says that the duration of prior employment must be long enough to “obtain skills to compete in the labor market.”
  The employee worked at Curry’s for a period of less than two years on a part-time basis from 2 to 20 hours per week, with periods off work due to his back problems.  In Ms. Sakata’s questioning of the employee concerning his employment at Curry’s, she found that only two SCODDOT’s fit that job.  The first, that of “cooling system technician,” has a specific vocational preparation (“SVP”) code of 7 and requires four years on the job to learn sufficiently to be competitive in the labor market. The other SCODDOT was “auto mechanic,” a title that was disapproved by Dr. Valentz.  

Therefore, the employee argued, Ms. Sakata did not abuse her discretion in not including these three jobs, nor did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in relying on the RBEE to find the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.

On closing, the employee argued that under the Act, the purpose of the rehabilitation eligibility procedure is to have a quick and efficient determination of eligibility for reemployment so that employees can get retraining and get back to work as soon as possible.  Also, the employee maintains deference is afforded the findings of the RBA Designee.  The employee further argued that, under the abuse of discretion standard, the Board should not look at whether the RBEE was perfect, but whether procedure was followed.  If procedure was not followed, that would constitute an abuse of discretion.  However, Ms. Sakata testified that she relied on the regulations and followed them.  Therefore, her RBEE was the product of the proper procedure.  The employee asserts that nowhere in the regulations does it require that the employers be contacted to confirm the results of the employee interview.  If there were a requirement that the RBEE be perfect, there would always be grounds for a remand and delay of the rehabilitation process.  The employee conceded that if the rehabilitation specialist had contacted the employers, for example, there would have been some slight differences in dates, but those discrepancies are not significant. Finally, the employee noted that the testimony of Ms. Sakata showed that if this case were remanded, the result would be the same.  Therefore, the employee requested the decision of the RBA Designee be upheld.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. EMPLOYER’S APPEAL OF THE BOARD’S DESIGNEE’S DETERMINATION THAT EMPLOYEE IS ELIGIBLE FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

A. Standard Of Review Of An RBA Determination
Under AS 23.30.041(d), we must uphold a decision of the RBA absent "an abuse of discretion."  Several definitions of the phase “abuse of discretion” appear in the laws of Alaska, although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act. The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of "issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive."
   The court has also stated that abuse of discretion exists only when the court is “left with the definite and firm conviction on the whole record that the trial judge has made a mistake.”
  We have adopted these standards in our review of the RBA’s decisions.
  We have also held that misapplication of the law or a failure to exercise sound, reasonable, and legal discretion to fall within the definition of “abuse of discretion.”
  

The Alaska Supreme Court has held that the presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for vocational rehabilitation.
  The court also held that we properly refused to reweigh evidence in reviewing an RBA determination.

In the Administrative Procedure Act the legislature has provided a definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those noted above, but also expressly includes reference to a substantial evidence standard:

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence….  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, our decisions reviewing Board Designee determinations are subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard,
 and appeals of Commission decisions to the Alaska Supreme Court are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test.  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA determination. Applying a substantial evidence standard, a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld." 
 

After allowing the parties to present their arguments and evidence, we review it and the evidence before the RBA, or the RBA Designee, to assess whether an RBA decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, we find the RBA’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we may conclude that the RBA abused his or her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and necessary action.

B.  Eligibility for Reemployment Benefits

AS 23.30.041(d) provides in part:

Within 30 days after the referral by the administrator, the rehabilitation specialist shall perform the eligibility evaluation and issue a report of findings. . . .  Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee's eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.23.110. The hearing shall be held within 30 days after it is requested.  The board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator's part.


AS 23.30.041(e) states

An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee's written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee's job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles" for


[image: image1]
(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles."

8 AAC 45.525 provides in pertinent part:


(a)  If an employee is found eligible for an eligibility evaluation for 
reemployment benefits under 8 AAC 45.510 or 8 AAC 45.520, the 
rehabilitation specialist shall


  (1)  interview the employee and, if necessary, the employer at time of injury 
  to obtain a description of the tasks and duties of the employee’s job at time 
     
  of injury;


   (2)  review the following volume, and from the volume, choose the most 
  
   appropriate job title or titles abused on the description of the employee’s 
   
   job; 
the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is…

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 
23.30.041(e) by sec.1, ch. 59, SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected 
Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; and


   (3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (2) of this subsection to a 
   
   physician.


(b) When interviewing the employee the rehabilitation specialist shall obtain 
descriptions of the tasks and duties for other jobs that the employee has held 
or for which the employee received training within 10 years before the 
injury, and any jobs held after the injury.  The rehabilitation specialist shall

(1)  review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most         appropriate job title or titles based on the employee’s descriptions of the jobs held and training received; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is…

 (B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041 (e) by sec. 1, ch. 59, SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles" unless, under AS 23.30.041 (q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; 

(2) determine whether the employee held the jobs long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation codes as described in the volume; 

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (1) - (2) of this subsection, for which the employee meets the specific vocational preparation codes, to a physician….

(e) The rehabilitation specialist shall document whether or not a permanent impairment is identified or expected at the time of medical stability. This documentation may be either a physician's rating according to the appropriate edition of the American Medical Association's Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, use of which is directed by AS 23.30.190 or a physician's statement that an impairment rating is or is not expected. 

(f) In accordance with 8 AAC 45.500 and within 30 days after the rehabilitation specialist received notification under 8 AAC 45.510(c) (2)(A) of being selected, the rehabilitation specialist shall submit 

(1) a report of findings, including a recommendation regarding eligibility for reemployment benefits, together with 

(A) copies of the physician's predictions;…

(E) the physician's rating or statement regarding permanent impairment; or…

The issue before us is whether the RBA Designee correctly interpreted AS 23.30.041(e) and 8 AAC 45.525.  If, as here, the question of law involves agency expertise, a “reasonable basis” standard of review is utilized.
  If the reviewing court finds that the agency’s interpretation is not reasonable, then the reviewing court’s “independent judgment” will be substituted and the statute will be interpreted “in accordance with the court’s view of the statute’s purpose.”
  The Alaska Supreme Court has discussed the legislature’s intent in amending AS 23.30.041 in 1988,
  as follows:


The overall goal of these changes [to the workers' compensation rehabilitation system] is to promote a prompter, more efficient, more cost-effective, successful, and less litigated rehabilitation system. . . . The Board itself recognized this purpose in Rydwell v. Anchorage School District, AWCB No. 9003980 (May 17, 1991).  In assessing the 1988 reenactment of AS 23.30.041, the Board found that some of the specific purposes of the reenactment were

1) to create a less expensive system with fewer employees participating in it; 2) to reduce the use of vocational rehabilitation as a litigation tool; 3) to encourage the use of vocational rehabilitation services for employees "most likely to benefit and who truly desire and need them;"  [and] 4) to speed up the vocational rehabilitation process in the expectation of producing more successful outcomes.
  

We have also consistently held that we should generally “defer to the RBA’s expertise when construing regulations adopted by the Board’s to implement the reemployment benefits program which he administers.”

The employer asserts five separate arguments to support its claim that the RBA Designee did abuse her discretion in relying upon the rehabilitation specialist’s RBEE.  We shall address each of these arguments separately below.

We find the employee credible.
  We find that the employee is within the category of employees most likely to benefit and who truly desire and need reemployment benefits.  We do not find that the employee is using vocational rehabilitation as a “litigation tool,” nor do we find that the employee’s request for reemployment benefits has delayed his claim.

We find the rehabilitation specialist Ms. Sakata credible.
  We find Ms. Sakata followed the regulation 8 AAC 45.525 and procedures therein when conducting the evaluation of the employee.  We find Ms. Sakata interviewed the employee on July 19, 2007, concerning his employment at the time of the work injury, prior to the work injury and also his employment subsequent to the work injury. During the employee interview, we find Ms. Sakata obtained descriptions of the tasks and duties for the employee’s job at the time of injury, other jobs that the employee held or for which the employee received training within 10 years before the injury, and any jobs held after the injury. Pursuant to this interview, we find she developed a list of three occupational descriptions to include in her inquiry of Dr. Valentz concerning the status of the employee and whether the employee would be able to perform jobs with those three SCODDOT job descriptions in the future.  We find, further, that Dr. Valentz did not approve any of the jobs submitted to him.  

We find that nowhere in the regulations is there a requirement that the rehabilitation specialist contact employers, other than as required under 8 AAC 45.525(c).  Further, we find there is no statutory or regulatory requirement that the rehabilitation specialist review medical records, other than to determine whether or not a permanent impairment is identified or expected at the time of medical stability under 8 AAC 45.525(e), or review depositions, as requested by the employer.  Because contacting employers for the purpose of confirming the results of the employee’s interview and review of medical records and depositions are not requirements for an RBEE under the regulations or statutes, except as noted above, we find that the rehabilitation specialist conducted the evaluation properly, according to the regulations and statutes.  We find that the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in relying on the RBEE in finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.

The employer argued the rehabilitation specialist should have considered the employee’s work at Carr’s and Wendy’s after he reached the age of majority.  We find no evidence that employee held his jobs at Carr’s grocery after the age of majority or his job at Wendy’s restaurant after he reached the age of majority for longer than one to two weeks, or long enough to meet the SVP even for an entry level job. We take administrative notice that the job the employee held at Wendy’s restaurant as fast food cook, CODE 313.274-010, has an SVP of 5, requiring over six 

months up to a year to learn.
  The employee specifically testified that although he worked full time at Carr’s and Wendy’s as a minor, he could not remember how long he worked at either job.  The employee testified that although he remembered working at Wendy’s in 2001, it was only for a week or so.  We found no evidence in the record or presented at hearing that proved the employee worked at Wendy’s for any longer than what the employee stated.  Therefore, we find no evidence that the employee worked at Wendy’s restaurant long enough to meet the SVP of 5 for that position.  We find that the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in relying on the RBEE without the Carr’s and Wendy’s jobs included to find the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.

We find that the rehabilitation specialist did not err in her selection of the job titles of motorcycle mechanic, automobile mechanic, and automobile-mechanic helper. The rehabilitation specialist followed the regulations under 8 AAC 45.525 in determining the appropriate job titles to submit to the physician.  Although the employer argues that the different tasks the employee performed in his work at Golden Wings Auto, Johnson’s Tire, Curry’s and Anchorage Yamaha Motorcycle should have been submitted as separate job titles for each task, we find that this argument does not have merit.  Again, we find that the rehabilitation specialist examined the relevant evidence when applying the DOT/SCODDOT to the employee’s work.  We find substantial evidence to support the RBA Designee’s action in relying on the RBEE and conclude she did not abuse her discretion in making her determination that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits.

We also find that the rehabilitation specialist was not mistaken in her characterization of the Anchorage Yamaha Motorcycle job as “motorcycle repairer,” a job title which has a physical demand of “heavy.”  Again, we find that the rehabilitation specialist followed the regulations at 
8 AAC 45.525(b)(1) to choose the most appropriate job title based on the employee’s descriptions of the jobs held and training received. In addition, the Alaska Supreme Court has found that when the actual physical requirements of a job vary from the description of the job in the DOT/SCODDOT, the requirements in the DOT/SCODDOT are controlling.
  Here, where the physical requirements of the motorcycle repairer job held by the employee might have been less than that of the description of the job in the DOT/SCODDOT, it is the requirements in the DOT/SCODDOT that control.  We have long adhered to this rule.
  We find that the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in relying on the RBEE to find the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.

We find that the rehabilitation specialist did not err in not including the Curry’s job in her RBEE.  We find that the rehabilitation specialist followed the regulations under 8 AAC 45.525(b)(2) in determining that the employee did not perform his job at Curry’s long enough to reach the required SVP for the cooling system technician position for submission to the physician.  Furthermore, we find that the physical demand of the job title “cooling system technician” is medium, as is the job title “automobile mechanic” that was disapproved by the physician.  We find the rehabilitation specialist would make the same decision if the case was remanded to her.  Therefore, we find that the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in relying on the RBEE to find the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.

We find that the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.  The RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and was not arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or motivated by an improper purpose.  Nor was it a misapplication of the law.  Therefore, we conclude that the RBA Designee’s decision finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits must be upheld.

II. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

The employee submitted statements of itemized attorney fees at the rate of $250.00 per hour.  We held the record open until January 23, 2008, so that the employer could submit its objection to the employee’s request for attorney’s fees.  However, the employer did not submit any objection.

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, we find the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under subsection AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 
8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee’s affidavits of fees and costs itemize 36.4 hours of attorney time, requesting $250.00 per hour, totaling $8,100.00.  

We note the claimed hourly rate of $250.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We found the employee counsel’s brief and arguments at hearing of great benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  We will award attorney fees at the rate of $250.00 per hour.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees reasonable for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits.  We will award a total of $8,100.00 as a reasonable attorney fee.  


ORDER
1. Under AS 23.30.41(d), we affirm the Board Designee’s decision that the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits. 

2.  The employer shall pay the employee $8,100.00 in fees for his attorney under AS 23.30.145(b).



Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 25 day of February, 2008.
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Robert Weel, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or 

within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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